                                             Introduction to ‘In an Undercliff Garden.’
“Be it known to all present and to come, that I, William, Earl of Devon, and Lord of the Isle of Wight, have given... all the tithes of my Lordships of the Island, which are known to belong the same monks of Bovcombe, of Wrockeshale and of Underwathe, in corn ....

William de Vernon, the Earl of Devon’s Charter of ... to the Monks of Lyra. 1193


The Undercliff of the Isle of Wight has a particularly good micro-climate for both health and horticulture. The formation of the Undercliff is explained by the slipping of the chalk and Upper   Greensand strata on the Gault clay or ‘Blue Slipper’. This has resulted in the formation of a sheltered terrace with the sea cliffs on the south warmed by the Gulf Stream. The chalk downs and the cliff in the north protect the terrace from the cold north winds of winter. The southern aspect makes it ‘ a sun trap.’    This ‘land slip’ terrace extends from Dunnose, Luccombe in the east to Knowles Farm in the west and is about seven miles in length and of varying width, from a few hundred yards to half a mile.1. The Undercliff terrace formation probably took place between 8000 and 2500 years ago and has been occupied by man since the Stone Age (Neolithic - i.e.2500-2000 b.c.)

 
Small farms were cleared from the debris and the Islanders lived well on crops and animals from fertile land and sea with the expansion from a hunter-gatherer economy to one of agriculture. An account of the early inhabitants of the area is given by Whitehead 2.  and Davenport Adams 3.

.       
The early land owners had used the uncultivated areas for hunting for food and sport and  the land-owning gentry of the 17th. and 18th.century discouraged visitors to the region  The roads of access were poorly constructed and gated  but some  reports by  the early visitors were glowing in their accounts of the picturesque and wild beauty of the area.4.5.6.7. Sir Richard Worsley of Appuldurcombe developed a marine residence at Steephill and Sir Hans Stanley had a villa nearby. The division of the Popham Estate and the sale of land by Rosa Hill and her husband in Bonchurch and her brother Charles Popham Hill selling his land in Ventnor, enabled the building of many houses in the area . 


The purchase of  the Osborne estate by Queen Victoria also contributed to the popularity of the Island and the Undercliff as did the seaside holiday and the seaside second home.


 In 1829, Sir James Clark wrote his book extolling the virtues of the district8. and soon after Dr G. A. Martin 9. and his brother came to the developing Ventnor. Dr Hill Hassell then founded what was to become the Royal National Hospital for Diseases of the Chest.10.

The following pages document the building of the new houses and the development of their grounds into gardens and the purchase of land for public parks and gardens and their subsequent growth into civic amenities in this area of the Island. These gardens reflected the changing taste from the ‘Country Park’ and ‘Capability’ Brown style, here illustrated by the deer park at Appuldurcombe, (in fact just north of the Undercliff ), to the pleasure grounds of the larger houses, and thence, to the villa garden expressed in the style of  Loudon in early Victorian times. There followed the English flower garden style of Robinson and the revival of the Cottage Garden and the small garden of the artisan. The changes in gardening taste and the works that generated them have been well documented and will not be laboured again here but their influence on the owners and the skills and  of the gardeners will be recorded where possible.

1. An account of the geology in  modern terms is given in `Ground  Movement in Ventnor , Isle of Wight  be E. M. Lee, J.C.Dorncamp, D. Brunsden, and N. H. Noton, 1991 and The Undercliff of the Isle of Wight. A Review of Ground Behaviour, South Wight Borough Council and Rendell Geotechnics, 1995
 2. Whitehead John L. The Undercliff of the Isle of Wight. Past and Present. 1911.

3..Adams W. Davenport. The Garden Isle. The History, Topography  and Antiquities of the Isle of Wight. 1856.
4..Hassell, J. Tour of the Isle of Wight..1790.

5.Wyndham, J.P. A Picture of the Isle of Wight. 1794

6. Warner. Rev. R. The History of the Isle of Wight..1791. p192.

7.Tomkins, C..A..  A Tour in the Isle of Wight in 1793. 1796
8. Clark, Sir James . The Influence of Climate on the Prevention and Cure  of Chronic Disease.   2nd ed. 1830.                                        .

9. Martin, George Anne. The Undercliff of the Isle of Wight. 1849

10. Gray, E.A.  By Candle Light. The Life of Dr Arthur Hill Hassall



Chapter  One.       

The 18th. century.


 The earliest ornamental landscapes were often the successors to the medieval deer parks and Speed’s map of  1611 gives the name ‘ St Laurence Park’ to the area we call ‘The Undercliff’. 

This name was used on several of the later well known maps based on Speed, such as that of Bleau.of 1645 and Jansson 1646  A park, in law, is an enclosed tract of land held by Royal Warrant or prescription for keeping ‘beasts of the chase’. It is to be distinguished from a forest and a chase by being enclosed and having no forest laws or officers. There is no evidence of an enclosing fence, so the Undercliff area was properly a chase. Open, unenclosed and uncultivated lands on manorial estates were preserved for sporting purposes by the manor lords.                                                      


Until the end of the 18th century the Undercliff was a remote and sparsely populated area with very poor communications and gated roads. The Gentleman`s Magazine gives the story of a tourist visiting  Bonchurch in 1753 who was told by an apothecary that he had been called one night to see a patient, who was  two miles away in Bonchurch. He mounted his horse, in haste, and had to open fifteen gates on the way.11.

  We shall begin this survey in the east, at Luccombe. This was a manor, which Domesday records as being in the hands of Sawin, the Saxon thegn, held of Edward the Confessor. The Norman, William Fitz-Osbern, Earl of Hereford and Lord of the Isle of Wight, gave the tithes of the manor to the Abbey of Lyre in Normandy. The first dwelling to be seen was the ancient Luccombe farmhouse nestling in the rounded valley or combe also called locally, ‘Bowlhoop’, with Luccombe Chine to the south taking the stream to the beach. The Undercliff farmers were able to rear cattle, sheep, pigs, and poultry. The larger fields produced corn which ripened well on the southern slope of the downs. Vegetables were grown in small fields and often a small vegetable garden near the farmhouse produced small quantities of seasonal vegetables and herbs. The local Upper Greensand stone was freely available and was used for building. 

        Next in a westerly direction is the manor of Bonchurch which is not the same as the parish of  Bonchurch. In explanation it should be noted that a parish may be defined as land which is committed to the charge of one patron, vicar, or minister, having charge of the souls of the residents. It is derived from the Anglo-Saxon and dates from the time of King Edgar. The manor is a Saxon and Norman concept used in the Domesday survey and was a landowner`s estate. After the Norman conquest, the Fitz-Azor family were given lands by William Fitz-Osbern including Wootton and Bonchurch 12.. At an Inquisition Post Mortem in 1341, Bartholomew de Insula, a descendant by marriage, owned Bonchurch and his descendants, the Denys family, succeeded to them. In 1688 John Popham inherited the land in Bonchurch, from them, also by marriage.  In 1729 his estate was surveyed by W. Dodge and his map is reproduced here. It comprised Bonchurch, Macketts and Marepool Farms. The map shows  Bonchurch  Farm, the glebe* farm, whose buildings were constructed by the monks of Lyre, on the site of the present East Dene. It is thought that these monks from Normandy landed at Monks Bay, in Bonchurch, to collect their due tithes from the time of the charter of William Fitz-Osbern. The ancient small church of Bonchurch was built, according to legend, in the 9th. century in Anglo-Saxon times but no one is certain of the founding date. Sir John Oglander13. , suggested that it was founded at the time of the Norman Conquest by Johannes de Argentine who had also been given the land by William Fitz-Osbern, but it is probable that a Christian presence was there from the time of Edward the Confessor.  Mackett`s Farm and then Marepool Farm were next in the west. Both these farms were in the Manor  and Parish of  Bonchurch. Lt. Col. William Hill, the Lord of the Manor, lived in St Boniface Cottage, which stood in what is now the playing field of  St Boniface School. Hassell 14.said in 1790 ” It is so retired, that it might almost be styled a hermitage; and at the same time it boasts of all that nature can bestow.”. Sir Richard Worsley remarked in 1781 15 “ Col. Hill has made considerable additions there and the garden is laid out with taste.”  Pennant 16. says “St Boniface Cottage is an elegant little building under the precipitous rocks. We were introduced into it, and met with a most polite reception from Mrs Hill, the lady of Colonel Hill, the owner, who made  this most sequestered spot her frequent and long abode.”    Wyndham 17. in.1794 remarked that the cottage was, “ a comfortable house, lying at the foot of a steep moutainous down, on a little level plain, and looks toward some long, regular slopes of rock, naturally covered with thick coppices and between which a few partial views of the sea open to the house.”  


Gilpin 18., a parson from the New Forest, and a follower of the Romantic movement in the arts,  travelled widely and examined the English countryside and influenced the ‘pictuesque’ movement in garden design. He visited the area and in his book of 1798, analysed the  beauty of the scene in these terms, and his remarks still seem relevant today 19.

Proceeding westwards, the Anglo-Saxon Manor of Holeway, later the Parish of Wroxall, and originally in the Parish of Newchurch, was the site of Littleton farm, with 200 acres of land, and

* A glebe is a tract of land assigned  to a clergyman as  part of  his benefice.
 Ventnor farm with 130 acres and a small grist mill.20  A small community of fishermen lived in huts at the Ventnor cove. The Crab and Lobster Inn at the foot of  Spring  Hill was built on a lease, probably in the 17th. Century, and completed the scene.  


 The Parish of Godshill and the Manors of  Rew and  Appuldurcombe reached the sea at Steephill. It was in the Manor of Rew, that Sir Hans Stanley, during his first period as Governor of the Isle of Wight, between 1764 and 1768, built a ‘thatched cottage’  which appears on a print by 

Brannon 21. He was a grandson of Sir Hans Sloane, who was a founder of the British Museum. and the cottage was situated  on the land known as Barkham`s Farm. The old farm buildings were on the south of the present road at the site of Flowers Brook and the cottage was north of the road. After he died in 1780, his sisters Lady Mendip and Mrs Doyley, gave it to their nephew, Hans Sloane, who was  M.P. for Newport. He sold it to the Hon. Wilbraham Tollemache, later the 6th. Earl of Dysart.19. The Earl had a large garden and his gardener was named  William Black. He was a Scot, who originally came to plan the gardens and pleasure grounds for Sir Hans Stanley. He stayed on the Island working, “ `till he dropped in the garden ....dying in 1808 ”22.. Hassell 23 ., in 1790, says of the grounds “ The entrance leading from the gate to the house is lined on both sides by lofty elms and ashes which form the avenue that reaches almost to the door...where a different taste is seen in the surrounding flowers and shrubs.” and “On the left hand before we reached the house stood an urn and on the right hand a chair formed of rough branches of trees, which, though simple, was curious.” One principal view from it is to the west; where a bow window projects, that like the roofs of all the other parts, has only humble thatch for its covering. A pleasing lawn lies before it, which gradually declining, present the whole range of  St Lawrence on one side and the extremity of the ocean on the other. On the right side at the bottom of the lawn you pass a wicket that  leads to a garden which by its situation cannot fail of  being productive.” 


Wyndham 24 says “Just before the windows of the west front, a beautiful spring of most transparent water, keep a large stone basin , in the form of a scallop shell, perpetually full. I should have pointed out that we passed through a little parterred flower garden in leaving the cottage of Steephill in which a beautiful specimen of Mr Coad`s (sic)*stone manufactury (noted ) both for its workmanship and durability was seen. It is a large and noble vase, after the antique and though it has been erected for

* Coade Stone was invented by George and Eleanor Coade at their Lambeth Factory in 1769, managed in its greatest period by their daughter, Eleanor, also known as Mrs Coade, until  1820. It is a ceramic artificial stone which is unglazed, and resistant to weathering. It was used  by leading architects of the time for Neoclassical style ornaments  based on Greek and Roman  antiquities.
 upward of 15 years yet it retains all the original sharpness of its alto-releivos without injury.


When the Earl of Dysart died, his sister Lady Louisa Manners, sold the estate to Mr Hambrough in 1828, who demolished the cottage to make way  for Steephill Castle, built between 1828 and 1832


The beauty of the scenery and the surroundings have given Steephill the proud title of the “Gem of the Undercliff.”  25.  A fuller- and later account of the garden is given in Marsh`s book on Steephill Castle, which will be described in a later chapter. Sir Joseph Paxton remarked to Dr Martin on seeing the view to the south “ I have visited  nearly every place of note from Copenhagen to Constantinople, but never have I seen anything more beautiful than this”   


  Mrs Groves, was the licensee of a popular rustic Inn in the grounds of Steephill Cottage.26. Hassall also says of this “Parties frequently come to the Inn at Steephill to dine; when, though they might not find the sumptuous entertainment of a modern hotel they will meet with every convenience of serving up a cold collation. even in the recluse and humble situation,  a ray of taste is visible. The proprietors have encouraged the branches of a fig tree to repose itself on an artificial support, thereby forming a kind of canopy, which spread over a daisy mounted carpet, serves as a pleasing and agreeable receptacle, in which parties dine al fresco .On the opposite side a venerable walnut  spreads its branches over the seats and likewise shelters the cheerful guests from the scorching rays of the sun.”  However, when the site was developed she was given land to build  ‘The New Inn’, which later became Hillside Hotel, on the south face of St Boniface Down. 


The next parish, the smallest in the Isle of Wight, is St. Lawrence, which starts at Bank End Farm. A few scattered farm cottages were recorded to the west  and these include  the ‘Duck’ a public house, now ‘Spring Cottage’, on the coastal road proceeding westwards. The old parish church is of Norman type but it is known that there was an Anglo-Saxon settlement here (Under-Wathe).The lands were held by the De Aula family after the Conquest and it is suggested that the ‘aula’ or hall in this case was on the site of the present Home Farm. John Worsley purchased St. Lawrence in 1579 and it remained in Worsley hands for more than 200 years.  Some cottages along, what is now, Seven Sisters Road were built about this time. Sir Richard Worsley, 1751-1805, of Appuldurcombe who owned most of the Undercliff lived at Appuldurcombe House at the centre of the deer park designed by ‘Capability Brown’ in 1781, in the ‘natural’ style, for which he was paid £52.10.0, ‘and other money’  27. Sir Richard lived in his mansion built by Robert Worsley in 1701, on the site of an earlier Tudor house. surrounded by his collection of antiquities acquired on his ‘ Grand Tour’. After an unhappy lawsuit in 1782,.Sir Richard  left the Court and spent five years in the Eastern Mediterranean, where he collected  his Greco-Roman marbles, a collection of antique gems and many fine paintings purchased from Italian and French noblemen. On his return the house became more of a museum 27  The magnificent ruin of the house,  Freemantle Gate and  Lodge on the driveway towards Newport are still worth a visit, but the mock ruin known as Cook’s Castle, on the summit of the down across the valley has gone. In 1774 an obelisk was placed on the down north of the house as a memorial to Sir Robert Worsley who died in 1747.


 Sir Richard moved to his Marine Villa also called ‘Sea Cottage’, built in 1794, at Steephill where he was looked after by a ‘housekeeper’, Mrs Smith. It was thought that his mother, Elizabeth,  lived in an adjoining house 28 to the east, St Lawrence Cottage, which became Lisle Coombe, but recent research makes this doubtful.29 ,  It is possible that she lived in an earlier farm house on the site.


  The gardens of the Marine Villa, in the park style, extended from the house to the edge of the sea cliff and were decorated with three ‘temples’, a pavilion designed from the Temple of Minerva at Athens, a little temple on the cliff, called the Seat of Virgil, with a bust of the poet  and a Grecian style greenhouse, after the Temple of Neptune at Corinth. The last of these remains  today in the grounds of the ‘Rare Breeds Park’. On the edge of the cliff was a battery of six bronze cannon in a miniature fort over looking ‘Battery’ Bay. They were presented to Sir Richard by King George III and were said to have been from a French privateer captured off the south coast of the Island. They were reputed to be cast in the bronze from the melted bells of Nantes Cathedral. When the fort was completed there was a party on the lawn and ‘Old John Green’ 28.  recalled an accident during the festivities when a man had his thumb blown off when one of the cannon was fired. (See also page 17 of Old John Green`s memoirs for an account of two Royal vists to the gardens and the cottage)  Sir Richard invited a French vigneron from Nantes, John Julin, ( Jobin ) to plant and tend a vineyard in his garden. This  consisted of two plantations which occupied three acres together with more terraces of vines south of the lawn .Seven thousand vines were planted of the varieties, ‘white muscadine’ and ‘plante verte’. John Green said “John was very tall and uncommon stout and, I believe, the strongest man in the neighbourhood. He was a mere frame of bones when he first came. It was a droll appearance to see him in his French dress and large wooden shoes”. The vineyard was unsuccessful, because of the blown salt sea spray which burnt the leaves and the wine was poor. The vines were grubbed up in 1808. There were several water features in the gardens one of which was a spring to the north of the house. The water of this was piped into a stone ‘Delphic loggia’ which was later known as ‘St Lawrence Well’. A small section of the old road and the well were by-passed by the new road and are now in the garden of Lisle Combe There are five ponds in the grounds of the estate which included  ‘St Lawrence Cottage’ to the east. The magnificent entrance gateway is said to have been designed by Inigo Jones and to be from Hampton Court Palace.  The stable and accommodation block to the west  are known as Westgate Cottage. Sir Richard improved the conditions of his tenants and built cottages nearby for his estate workers. Sir Richard’s Bay is next to the west 


 Proceeding westward and in the Parish of Whitwell, we find Wolverton Manor, originally built by Sir John Dingley and the Hacketts, descendants of the De Estur family, in the 16th Century who had warren rights here in 1309, from a Charter of King Edward II. A Norman free warren was an unfenced area, lower in degree than a park, with a franchise to keep ‘beast and fowl of warren’ which are hares and conies (rabbits) and partridges and pheasants. There is an interesting, ruined building in the grounds of Wolverton manor, often known as ‘the Chapel’, because of the ecclesiastical-type window. This is now known to have been a small hunting lodge of the 14th.century contemporary with Chale Manor long hall (‘Abbey’) and the earliest parts of Swainston Manor. It was built about 1330 at the time of King Edward III, probably to take advantage of the hunting.  Sir John Oglander 30  records that the area “swarmed with game -partridges and pheasants, curlews and plover, gulls and other wild fowl. Conies there were also in abundance”. Adjoining Wolverton and extending to the cliff is an area still known as “Green Park”.  Woody Bay is in this area and is the site of the coast-guard lookout 
( Now demolished ) and cottages..


Further westward in the Parish of Whitwell was ‘Wrongs Farm’ at the site of  the present ‘Belvedere’ and proceeding  to the west again ,’Old Park’ farm, which was leased by Sir Richard Worsley to  James Colman in  1745 and John Harvey in 1781.31..  On the west of this estate is an area of rough ground still called “the warren”, above Binnel Bay.


 ‘Mirables’ was an ancient dwelling next in line westward and is in Whitwell Parish. Some years after the Conquest, Mirables was given by Richard de Redvers to the Priory of St Cross, Newport. Mr Arnold lived here on his arrival from Northamptonshire in 1793 on the site of an earlier building, a Jacobean farmhouse.


The land to the westward, later to become Orchards, Beauchamp, Beauchamp Cottage, Puckaster Cottage, and the Buddle Farm, is in the parish of Niton.


 Knowles Farm, “ this sequestered and unsociable spot, the residence of the late Mr Bradshaw”,  was just above Water-shute Bay and was the last dwelling in the region.32 There was a great landslip at the west end of the Undercliff in 1799 and another in 1928 which destroyed the road from Niton Undercliff to Blackgang and much of Pitlands Farm. The area is still unstable with landslips and mud slides.


This completes the survey of the Undercliff at this time and it is interesting to note  the six parish boundaries are drawn to ensure that each had a length of coast line giving access to the ‘bounty’ of the sea, thus ensuring that, apart from its arable land, it could have fishing  and flotsam rights.
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                       “That though the situation of Steephill is pleasing we cound  not say (as) much for what is called the Cottage.

                       It is covered indeed by thatch; but it makes no more a cottage than ruffles would make a clown, a gentleman, or a meally hat turn a laced beau 
into a  miller. We see everywhere the appendages of  junket and good living. Who would expect  a fountain bubbling up under the windows of a 
cottage into an elegant carved shell, to cool wine ?  The thing is beautiful,  but out of place.”

19. Th following poem  entitled ‘Steephill’ appeared in the  July edition of the ‘ Isle of Wight  Magazine’ in 1799.


Rearing amid the cumbent air their heads,


Rock piled on rock, theatrically spreads,


With twining ivy from the chasms bound, 


And oozing moss their lofty summits crowned .


Beneath a range of snowy native wall,

 
Through which Pennacian streams resplendent fall;

